THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-000821

**RECEIVED**  
NOV 28 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

The Winthrop University Trustees for the  
State of South Carolina, ..... Respondent,

v.

Pickens Roofing and Sheet Metals, Inc., ..... Petitioner.

---

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

Kirby D. Shealy III  
Lyndey Ritz Zwingelberg  
Adams and Reese LLP  
1501 Main Street, Fifth Floor  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 254-4190  
Attorneys for Petitioner

Other Counsel of Record:

Zachary M. Jett, Esquire  
Peter M. Vogt, Esquire

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. **WAS JUROR 25 A PROPER MEMBER OF THE VENIRE?**
- II. **SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT HAVE DIRECTED VERDICT FOR PICKENS?**
- III. **WAS IT ERROR NOT TO RECHARGE ALL ELEMENTS OF PROXIMATE CAUSATION?**
- IV. **WAS IT APPROPRIATE TO BIFURCATE LIABILITY AND DAMAGES?**
- V. **DID WINTHROP PROVE WHICH DAMAGES PICKENS CAUSED?**
- VI. **SHOULD THE JUDGMENT REFLECT THE JURY'S DETERMINATION THAT WINTHROP WAS 40% AT FAULT?**

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced by the filing of a summons and complaint in the York County court of common pleas on September 5, 2012. (Appx. pp. 69-75). Plaintiff Winthrop University Trustees for the State of South Carolina ("Winthrop") alleged causes of action for breach of contract and negligence against Defendant Pickens Roofing and Sheet Metals, Inc. ("Pickens") and sought damages arising from a fire that occurred on Winthrop's campus on March 6, 2010.<sup>1</sup> (*Id.*). Pickens answered on October 4, 2012, denying all liability. (Appx. pp. 117-122). Among its affirmative defenses, Pickens alleged that Winthrop was comparatively negligent. (*Id.*).

The case was tried before a jury from March 17-21, 2014. Over Pickens' objection, the trial court bifurcated the liability and damages phases of the trial. (*See* Appx. p. 203, line 7 – p.

---

<sup>1</sup> The court of appeals' opinion mistakenly indicates that the fire occurred in 2009.

205, line 5). During jury selection, Pickens moved to strike Juror 25 for cause based upon that juror's status as a current student at Winthrop who had been enrolled as a Winthrop student and was on campus when the fire occurred. (Appx. p. 198, lines 9-23). The trial court denied Pickens' motion, forcing Pickens to use one of its peremptory strikes to remove that juror from the venire. (Appx. p. 199, line 2 – p. 203, line 6).

Following a four-day trial on liability, Pickens moved for a directed verdict on the ground that Winthrop had offered no evidence that some act or omission by Pickens had caused the fire to ignite. (Appx. p. 848, line 3 – p. 849, line 21). Although acknowledging Winthrop had failed to adduce any evidence as to the ignition of the fire, the trial court nonetheless denied Pickens' motion because Winthrop had introduced evidence to show that once the fire was ignited, Pickens' acts or omissions caused it to spread. (Appx. p. 851, line 18 – p. 860, line 2). Pickens put up no evidence during the liability phase of trial. (Appx. p. 861, lines 5-8; p. 863, lines 11-25).

During the jury's deliberations, it sent a note to the trial court asking, among other things, to be recharged concerning proximate cause. (Appx. p. 939, line 21 – p. 940, line 7). The court provided an instruction as to cause-in-fact, but it left out any instruction as to foreseeability. (Appx. p. 941, line 14 – p. 942, line 4). Pickens objected but was overruled. (Appx. p. 942, line 11 – p. 943, line 22). The jury returned a verdict in Winthrop's favor as to its breach of contract and negligence causes of action, but it found Winthrop bore 40% of the responsibility for the loss. (Appx. p. 944, line 3 – p. 945, line 5). Pickens moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the basis the jury was never presented any evidence as to how the fire started. (Appx. p. 946, line 21 – p. 947, line 6). Pickens' motion was denied. (Appx. p. 947, lines 7-19).

At the close of Winthrop's case as to damages, Pickens renewed its earlier directed verdict motion, asserting Winthrop had offered no evidence that Pickens had caused the fire to ignite. (Appx. p. 1005, lines 4-10). It additionally moved for a directed verdict on the basis that Winthrop had failed to introduce evidence as to how much worse the fire damages were than they would have been without Pickens' involvement. (Appx. p. 1005, line 11 – p. 1006, line 1). These motions were likewise denied. (Appx. p. 1006, line 13 – p. 1025, line 10).

The jury returned a verdict for Winthrop in the amount of \$7,223,343.14. (Appx. p. 1035, lines 4-13; *see also* Appx. p. 66). Pickens moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the same grounds it had previously raised at the directed verdict stage of trial. (Appx. p. 1037, lines 6-10). It also moved for a new trial absolute, arguing that the trial court erred in bifurcating the trial and in failing to grant Pickens' motion to strike Juror 25 for cause. (Appx. p. 1038, lines 4-6). Alternatively, Pickens moved that the judgment be governed by the jury's comparative negligence determination, asserting that the duty giving rise to Winthrop's contract claim was identical to the duty on which Winthrop based its negligence claim. (Appx. p. 1038, lines 7-22). The trial court denied all of these motions. (Appx. p. 1043, line 2 – p. 1049, line 9). Winthrop thereafter elected to recover under its contract cause of action. (Appx. p. 1044, lines 8-21).

On March 27, 2014, Pickens received written notice that judgment had been entered and timely filed its Notice of Appeal on April 21, 2014. The court of appeals affirmed the judgment of the circuit court. *The Winthrop University Trustees for the State of South Carolina v. Pickens Roofing and Sheet Metals, Inc.*, Op. No. 5433 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 3, 2016). Petitioner seeks a writ of certiorari to review that decision.

## FACTS

In 2009, Winthrop hired Pickens to reroof one of the older academic buildings on its campus known as Bancroft Hall. Bancroft Hall is immediately adjacent to Owens Hall, which was constructed in 2007. Both buildings have pitched roofs, and they adjoin each other at a place that is covered by a flat roof which is several feet lower than the adjacent pitched roofs.

The contract for the re-roofing of Bancroft Hall contained two provisions that are germane to this lawsuit. First, the contract contained a specification requiring Pickens to “[c]omply with all applicable laws, ordinances, rules, regulations and orders of any public body having jurisdiction for the safety of persons or property or to protect them from damage, injury or loss.” (Appx. p. 1151 at Contract § 1500, ¶ 1.9(L)(4)). Second, the contract contained a specification pertaining to the storage of materials that were to be used during the project: “Prior to starting work, obtain approval from Owner for locations of work operations at ground level, such as material storage, hoisting, dumping, etc. Restrict work to approved locations.” (Appx. p. 1129 at Contract § 1500, ¶ 1.9(D)). Consonant with this second provision, Winthrop approved two ground-level storage areas, one on the lawn immediately adjacent to Bancroft Hall and another in a nearby parking lot.

Two provisions of the International Fire Code, which incorporates standards promulgated by the National Fire Protection Association (“NFPA”), are likewise pertinent to the issues in this appeal. First, section 8.3.3 of NFPA standard 241 prohibits the “yard storage” of combustible materials within thirty feet of a structure that is under construction. (Appx. p. 921, lines 7-16). Second, section 7.2 of NFPA standard 241 provides that an owner of a building under construction “shall designate a person who shall be responsible for the fire prevention program and who shall insure that it is carried out to completion.” Such person designated by the property

owner is known as the “fire prevention program manager” who has the authority to enforce fire protection standards. (Appx. p. 922, lines 15-23).

During the week of March 1-5, 2010, a Pickens work crew was installing copper panels on dormer roof projections along one particular pitch of Bancroft Hall’s roof. (Appx. p. 373, lines 13-16; p. 383, lines 20-24; p. 401, lines 9-25). It was the only crew working on Bancroft Hall on Friday, March 5, 2010. (Appx. p. 396, line 6 - p. 397, line 12). The work did not involve the use of torches, soldering guns or any other tools that produced heat or flame. (Appx. at p. 389, lines 10-19; p. 401, lines 11-25). None of the crew members smoked. (Appx. at p. 382, lines 20-21; p. 400, lines 7-9; p. 422, lines 4-9; p. 443, lines 5-10). The crew stored metal pieces on the flat roof where Bancroft and Owens Halls adjoined to keep them from blowing or sliding off the pitched roof while they worked. (Appx. at p. 404, lines 1-6).

The crew stopped working at approximately 4:00 p.m. (Appx. p. 425, lines 24-25; p. 343, lines 13-16). Winthrop asserted that when the Pickens crew left the jobsite, they left shingles, roofing paper and other combustible materials on the flat roof. None of these materials is known to ignite spontaneously; in fact, they are designed to resist fire. (Appx. p. 358, line 22 - p. 359, line 16). To establish its prima facie case, Winthrop relied primarily upon the testimony of Pickens employees. These witnesses testified that packs of shingles and roofing paper had been stored on the flat roof and may have been there when the crew stopped working on March 5, 2010.<sup>2</sup> (See Appx. p. 413, line 16 – p. 414, line 3; p. 439, lines 5-25; p. 440, lines 13, 20-22, p. 441, lines 14-16; p. 410, line 19 – p. 411, line 6; p. 441, lines 11-13, p. 441, line 24 – p. 442, line 5). Testimony also indicated that Pickens used the flat roof as a storage or staging area with

---

<sup>2</sup> Unquestionably, packs of shingles were left along the ridgeline of the pitched roof on Bancroft Hall, as these were depicted in photographs taken before and after the fire, but these shingle packs did not burn in the fire. (See Appx. p. 402, lines 1-6; p. 406, lines 5-16).

Winthrop's knowledge. (Appx. p. 390, lines 8-10; p. 459, line 20 – p. 461, line 14). Evidence presented to the jury revealed that Winthrop had not designated anyone to serve as its "fire prevention program superintendent" for the project, as required by section 7.2 of NFPA standard 241. (Appx. p. 590, line 4 - p. 591, line 23; p. 644, line 22 - p. 646, line 11).

Shortly before 3:00 p.m. on March 6, 2010, almost twenty-four hours after the Pickens crew had left the jobsite, a Winthrop student noticed smoke emanating from Owens Hall and dialed 911. (Appx. p. 359, line 17 – p. 360, line 1; p. 532, line 25 – p. 534, line 11). The fire department arrived within 15 minutes, but the fire was burning within the insulation layer of the roofing system on Owens Hall and was difficult to extinguish. (Appx. p. 359, line 17 - p. 362, line 1; p. 332, line 23 - p. 334, line 3). The fire burned until approximately 6:45 p.m. on March 7, 2010. No one has ever identified a source of ignition. (Appx. p. 344, line 15 - p. 347, line 14; p. 349, lines 21-23; p. 807, lines 22-24).

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. GRANTING CERTIORARI IN THIS CASE IS SUPPORTED BY SPECIAL AND IMPORTANT REASONS UNDER RULE 242(b), SCACR.**

This case arises from a fire that occurred on Winthrop's campus in March 2010. This Court should grant certiorari pursuant to Rule 242(b)(1), SCACR, because this case involves novel questions of law, including whether Winthrop was capable of recovering despite its inability to prove the source of the fire's ignition. In addition, this case presents a novel issue of applying comparative negligence principles in a breach of contract action.

## II. THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE STRICKEN JUROR 25 FROM THE VENIRE.

The court of appeals affirmed the denial of Pickens' motion for a new trial based on the trial court's refusal to strike Juror 25 for cause. The court concluded Pickens failed to preserve its objection that Juror 25 should have been stricken for cause on the ground she was a "student researcher"; the juror indicated, despite her knowledge about the facts of the case, she could remain impartial; and Pickens failed to show it suffered prejudice as Juror 25 was not empaneled. *See* Opinion at ¶ I.

Article I, section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution and section 14-7-1050 of the South Carolina Code of Laws both mandate that litigants receive a fair trial by an impartial jury. S.C. Const. Art I, § 14; S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1050 (Supp. 2015). *See also Alston v. Black River Electric Co-Op.*, 345 S.C. 323, 326, 548 S.E.2d 858, 859 (2001) ("Under South Carolina law, litigants are guaranteed the right to an impartial jury"). "To safeguard this right, prospective jurors must be excused for cause when . . . the [circuit] court determines that the juror cannot be fair and impartial." *Burke v. AnMed Health*, 393 S.C. 48, 53, 710 S.E.2d 84, 86 (Ct. App. 2011); S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1020 (Supp. 2015). Here, by refusing to strike Juror 25 for cause, Pickens was denied its constitutional and statutory "right to have a panel of twenty competent and impartial jurors from which to strike a jury." S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1050 (Supp. 2015).

### A. *The issue was preserved.*

The court of appeals held Pickens failed to preserve its objection to Juror 25 on the basis she was a "student researcher" at the time of the trial because "it was not specifically raised to and ruled on by the trial court." Opinion at ¶ I (citing *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76,

497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“[A]n objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the [circuit] court of the point being urged by the objector.”)).

During pre-trial motions, counsel for Pickens objected to Juror 25, arguing:

[Juror 25] is a student at Winthrop University. In the conference up front in front of the court reporter earlier or in several conferences she indicated that she was there at the time -- or within the Winthrop Community at the time the fire occurred. She had watched it on the news and particularly that she had talked about the fire with fellow students and professors. Your Honor, I felt that that gave her a perspective on this case that the other jurors would not have and respectfully moved to have her stricken from the jury list for cause.

(Appx. p. 198, lines 9-23).

It is clear from Pickens’ objection that it believed Juror 25 was not impartial based on her current affiliation with Winthrop as a “student.” (*Id.*). The distinction the court of appeals drew between Pickens’ objection on the record to Juror 25 as a “student” and its argument that Juror 25 should have been stricken for cause because she was a “student researcher” lacks any meaningful difference. Pickens made a timely and specific objection to the trial court regarding Juror 25 based on her current connection with Winthrop, her discussions with other students and professors about the cause of the fire, and her personal knowledge of the fire through information gathered from news reporting and conversations on campus. (*See id.*). Pickens’ objection was sufficiently specific to inform the trial court as to Pickens’ belief that Juror 25 was not impartial and should have been stricken for cause. Pickens’ objection to Juror 25 as a current “student researcher” is preserved and the court of appeals’ contrary conclusion is in error.

*B. Juror 25 could not be indifferent.*

Even if Pickens had not preserved its objection to Juror 25 on the ground that she was a “student researcher,” it is clear from an examination “of the entire voir dire,” *State v. Council*, 335 S.C. 1, 10, 515 S.E.2d 508, 512-13 (1999) (citation omitted), that Juror 25 could not be

indifferent in this case. Juror 25 “recently graduated” from Winthrop, had been a Winthrop student “during the fire, the incident,” and “knew people who were affected by it.” (Appx. p. 170, lines 7-8, 16-17, 20-22). She also specifically stated she “knew things that occurred,” such as “[t]he fire, the incident, things that were said about how it occurred, and so forth.” (Appx. at 171, lines 11-12). Pickens preserved these objections in the record. (Appx. p. 198, lines 9-23). Juror 25’s previous knowledge or belief about “how [the fire] occurred” (*id.*) and discussions with other students and professors of Winthrop University gave her a perspective about the issues in the case that other potential jurors did not share. For this combination of reasons, the trial court should have stricken Juror 25 for cause.

This situation is akin to a juror having a familial relationship with one of the parties. Generally, jurors within the sixth degree of consanguinity are to be excused under the practice long followed in this state. *See Smith v. Quattlebaum*, 223 S.C. 384, 76 S.E.2d 154 (1953). Juror 25’s numerous connections to Winthrop and to the facts of the case made her far more closely linked than second cousins or first cousins twice removed.<sup>3</sup>

C. *This case is distinguishable from those upon which the court of appeals relied.*

The court of appeals cited *Abofreka v. Alston Tobacco Co.*, 288 S.C. 122, 341 S.E.2d 622 (1986), and *Hollins v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 381 S.C. 245, 672 S.E.2d 805 (Ct. App. 2008), to justify its conclusion that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to strike Juror 25 for cause. In *Abofreka*, this Court held a prior business relationship between a juror and a party does not, on its own, disqualify the juror as a matter of law. In *Hollins*, the court of appeals

---

<sup>3</sup> Juror 25’s connections to Winthrop and to the facts are arguably closer than those of a stockholder of a publicly traded corporation or of a member of an electric cooperative that is party to a case, both of which have been deemed to be incompetent to serve on a jury as a matter of law. *See Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Shepard*, 262 S.C. 217, 204 S.E.2d 11 (1974) and *Alston v. Black River Electric Co-op.*, 345 S.C. 323, 548 S.E.2d 858 (2001).

affirmed a circuit court's refusal to strike a juror where the juror stated she had no knowledge of the matter and had not discussed it with her brother who worked at the defendant's store.

Juror 25's connection to the circumstances giving rise to this case is much closer than the relationships exhibited by jurors in *Abofreka* and *Hollins*. Juror 25 had not only a current relationship with Winthrop, but she also had knowledge of the facts of the case because of her former status as a Winthrop student. Juror 25 testified she watched stories about the fire on the news, discussed the fire with friends who were students affected by the fire, and overheard "some of the professors talk[] about" the fire and damages caused to Winthrop. (Appx. p. 190, lines 10-15).

A court's erroneous failure to strike a juror for cause is grounds for a new trial. *State v. Sanders*, 103 S.C. 216, 88 S.E. 10, 12 (1916). In *Cordes v. Associates of Internal Medicine*, 87 A.3d 829 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2014), the Pennsylvania Superior Court reversed a trial court for failing to strike two jurors for cause, holding, in part, "the trial court failed to pay due regard to the precept that the mere appearance of partiality on the part of a juror may suffice to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. *Id.* at 842 (citations omitted). In *Cordes*, two challenged jurors had family members who were treated by the defendant physician. *Id.* at 841. The trial court, like the one here, found these jurors' connections to the defendant-physician did not warrant striking either for cause, concluding there was no real or close familial or situational relationship and relied upon each juror's assurance that he or she could impartially assess the defendant's credibility and liability. *Id.* at 842. The lower court's justification in *Cordes* was deemed insufficient and the trial court's conclusion here should be viewed in the same light.

Pickens' motion to strike Juror 25 for cause should have been granted based on her current affiliation with Winthrop as a "student researcher," her status as a "recent graduate" of

the University, and her personal knowledge of the facts of the case, including the “cause” of the fire, a critical issue in the case. (See Appx. p. 1170, lines 16-17, 20-22; p. 175, line 6; p. 190, lines 10-15). Because the trial court erroneously denied Pickens’ motion, the court of appeals should have granted Pickens a new trial.

*D. The court of appeals’ prejudice analysis leaves Pickens without a remedy.*

The court of appeals held Pickens did not suffer any prejudice because “Juror 25 was not empaneled.” See Opinion at § I (citing *Wilson v. Childs*, 315 S.C. 431, 439, 434 S.E.2d 286, 291 (Ct. App. 1993) (“There is no reversible error in the impaneling of a jury unless it appears that the objecting party was prejudiced.”); *Moore v. Jenkins*, 304 S.C. 544, 547, 405 S.E.2d 833, 835 (1991) (“[W]ith regard to errors in the empaneling of juries, this Court has previously stated that ‘irregularities in the empaneling of the jury will not constitute reversible error unless it affirmatively appears that the objecting party was prejudiced thereby.’” (quoting *Southern Welding Works, Inc. v. K & S Constr. Co.*, 286 S.C. 158, 162, 332 S.E.2d 102, 105 (Ct. App. 1985))). By doing so, the court left Pickens without a remedy.

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