THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Lee S. Alford, Circuit Court Judge
McDonald, Short, and Geathers, Court of Appeals Judges

Supreme Court Case No. 2016-002336
Appellate Case No. 2014-000821

THE WINTHROP UNIVERSITY TRUSTEES
FOR THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Respondent

v

PICKENS ROOFING AND SHEET METALS, INC

Petitioner

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Zachary M. Jett, Esq.
SC Bar No. 100484
Peter M. Vogt, Esq.
Admitted *Pro Hac Vice*
Butler Weihmüller Katz Craig, LLP
11605 N. Community House Road
Suite 150
Charlotte, NC 28277
(704) 543-2321 / (704) 543-2324
Attorneys for Respondent

Kirby D. Shealy, III, Esq.

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

ARGUMENT

This Court may only exercise its discretionary power to consider a petition for a writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals “where there are special and important reasons,” such as:

- (1) Where there are novel questions of law.

³ Mr. John Murphy’s deposition was read to the jury in lieu of live testimony.

- (2) Where there is a dissent in the decision of the Court of Appeals.
- (3) Where the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a prior decision of the Supreme Court.
- (4) Where substantial constitutional issues are directly involved.
- (5) Where a federal question is included and the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a decision of the United States Supreme Court.

SCACR 242(b).

Pickens raises six issues in its petition, but only asserts a recognized basis for certiorari review for issues II and VI—claiming they involve “novel questions of law.” (Petition p. 6.) Pickens fails to allege any recognized basis for this Court to exercise its discretion to review issues I, III, IV, or V. Instead, Pickens merely argues that the appellate court erred. None of the six issues in this case present a “novel” issue that warrants certiorari review, and even if they did, the Court of Appeals’ conclusions are correct.

I. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN HOLDING THAT THE PETITIONER’S ARGUMENT ON APPEAL THAT JUROR 25 SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN INCLUDED IN THE VENIRE WAS UNPRESERVED, WITHOUT FACTUAL SUPPORT, OR LACKING A NECESSARY DEMONSTRATION OF PREJUDICE TO CREATE REVERSIBLE ERROR?

Preliminarily, Pickens does not specify any “special and important reasons” why this question warrants a writ of certiorari, and Winthrop is unaware of any such reason why this Court should consider this question in the petition. *See* Rule 242(b), SCACR.

Regardless, Pickens’ arguments lack merit. First, Pickens claims the Court of Appeals incorrectly concluded Pickens had not preserved any objection to Juror 25 as a “student researcher.” But the transcript is clear: Pickens objected to Juror 25 only on the basis that she was a “student,” and never claimed she should be excluded on the basis that she was a “student researcher.” (R. p. 144, lines 9-23.)

Pickens now claims that any distinction between its objection to Juror 25 as a “student,” and the objection it did not make to her as a “student researcher,” “lacks any meaningful difference.” (Petition p. 8.) But that directly contradicts what Pickens argued to the appellate court. Rather, Pickens previously sought to distinguish Juror 25 from a mere “student” by likening her to a Winthrop *employee* who was stricken as a juror (Juror 91), and then citing a section of American Jurisprudence Second that addresses whether *employees* of a party may serve on a jury. (Appellant’s Final Brief, p. 14-15.) Pickens did raise this new argument for the first time in its petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeals, but it was improperly raised at that late date. *See Kennedy v. South Carolina Retirement Sys.*, 349 S.C. 531, 532, 564 S.E.2d 531, 532 (2001) (holding that an appellate court should not consider new argument presented for the first time on rehearing). It is likewise improperly raised here. *See* Rule 242(d)(2) SCACR (“Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari”) (emphasis added). Further, vague objections are never sufficient to preserve error, so Pickens’ contention that it meant “student researcher” when it raised the “student” objection proves its objection was insufficient. *See Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“[A]n objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the [circuit] court of the point being urged by the objector.”).

The remainder of Pickens’ arguments on the juror selection issue likewise lack merit. Pickens has never before argued that Juror 25’s relationship with Winthrop was “akin to a juror having a familial relationship with one of the parties” (Petition 9), so that argument is unpreserved. *See* Rule 242(d)(2) SCACR. Pickens likewise provides no evidence (and cannot do so for the first time here) to support its conclusion that a student has a closer relationship with a university she attends than with “second cousins or first cousins twice removed.” (Petition p.

9.) Rather, a student is akin to a customer of a university, and being a customer of a party does not automatically disqualify a person from serving on a jury. *See Rook v. Kimbrough*, 297 S.C. 156, 375 S.E.2d 318 (Ct. App. 1988). Juror 25's knowledge of the facts of the case and exposure to publicity about the fire did not automatically disqualify her from service, either. *See R.K. Abofreka v. Alston Tobacco Co.*, 288 S.C. 122, 341 S.E.2d 622 (1997).

The appellate court correctly concluded that Pickens could not establish any prejudice because Juror 25 never sat on the jury. Pickens' position that it established prejudice by virtue of using a peremptory challenge to excuse Juror 25, logically extended, is that an incorrect denial of a for-cause challenge creates *automatic reversible error* without any showing of prejudice, even where that juror does not sit on the jury. Suggesting that no showing of evidence is necessary conflicts with South Carolina law. *See Moore v. Jenkins*, 304 S.C. 544, 547, 405 S.E.2d 833, 835 (1991) ("[W]ith regard to errors in the empaneling of juries, this Court has previously stated in reviewing such errors that, 'irregularities in the empaneling of the jury will not constitute reversible error unless it affirmatively appears that the objecting party was prejudiced thereby.'" (quoting *S. Welding Works, Inc. v. K & S Constr. Co.*, 286 S.C. 158, 162, 332 S.E.2d 102, 105 (Ct. App. 1985))).

II. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF PETITIONER'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT WHERE THERE WAS EVIDENCE FROM WHICH THE JURY COULD REASONABLY INFER PETITIONER'S IMPROPER STORAGE OF COMBUSTIBLE MATERIALS ON THE RESPONDENT'S ROOF "WAS A DIRECT CAUSE OF THE FIRE DAMAGES, AS THE FIRE WOULD NOT HAVE SPREAD TO EITHER OF THE PITCHED ROOFS NOR CAUSED SIGNIFICANT DAMAGE BUT FOR [PETITIONER'S] ACTS[?]"

Pickens' argument in this petition, as it was in the Court of Appeals, is based on several misinterpretations of law and mischaracterizations of Winthrop's position. Pickens quotes the proper principles of causation, but fails to apply them.

Proximate cause is defined as "the efficient or direct cause of an injury." *McNair v. Rainsford*, 330 S.C. 332, 349, 499 S.E.2d 488, 497 (Ct. App. 1998) (citation omitted). It "requires proof of both causation in fact and legal cause." *Id.* (citing *Vinson v. Hartley*, 324 S.C. 389, 477 S.E.2d 715 (Ct. App. 1996)). "Causation in fact is proved by establishing the injury would not have occurred 'but for' the defendant's negligence." *Id.* "Legal cause is proved by establishing foreseeability." *Id.* "A plaintiff therefore proves legal cause by establishing the injury in question occurred as a natural and probable consequence of the defendant's negligence." *Id.*

(Petition 13-14.) The Court of Appeals recognized this burden, and detailed the evidence that the jury was presented, from which it made the following holding:

To establish proximate cause, Winthrop needed to provide evidence that Pickens's breach of duty—here, the storage of combustible materials on the flat roof—was a cause in fact of the damages and was a legal cause.

Here, there was evidence that the fire would not have occurred but for Pickens's negligence. The parties stipulated that the fire began on the flat roof. Arnold provided expert testimony that the flames on the flat roof would not have reached the height they reached and consequently spread to the pitched roofs but for the presence of combustibles. Arnold also testified that the fire would have self-extinguished on the flat roof without the presence of combustibles. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to Winthrop, this constitutes evidence warranting a reasonable inference that the presence of improperly placed combustible materials was a direct cause of the fire damages, as the fire would not have spread to either of the pitched roofs nor caused significant damages but for Pickens's acts.

Pickens claims that Winthrop was required to prove more than Pickens' acts caused the damage, but also that Pickens *ignited* the fire. Pickens has never cited any authority to support this argument. To the contrary, South Carolina law holds that a party's supplying of the fuel to start a fire can be the proximate cause of the damage caused by that fire, even where the party did not ignite the fire. *See Brown v. Nat'l Oil Co.*, 233 S.C. 345, 105 S.E.2d 81 (1958) (fuel service station owner was held to have proximately caused the fire damage at the gas station by failing to place proper vents on underground tanks—thereby allowing fuel fumes to dangerously accumulate when the tanks were being filled—even when the fire was ignited by an unrelated

third-party striking a match). *Brown* establishes what Pickens fails to recognize—that the negligent storage of combustible material can just as easily be the proximate cause of fire damage as the supply of the ignition source; the proximate cause would depend upon the situation. None of Pickens’ cases refute this.

Under this Court’s *Brown* opinion, a fire case does not require anything different than any other negligence or breach of contract case in terms of proof. *Brown* does no more than apply the standard principles of proximate causation that Pickens quotes to analogous facts involving causation of a fire—the source of ignition is irrelevant to the jury’s determination of whether Pickens’ conduct was the proximate cause of the damage. *See also McQuillen v. Dobbs*, 262 S.C. 386, 391-92, 204 S.E.2d 732, 735 (1974) (holding that “evidence of facts and circumstances from which the inference might be reasonably drawn that, but for the negligence of defendants, the fire would not have occurred,” can be sufficient even when the cause of ignition is unknown). Simply put, the evidence here established that the fire that caused the damage at Winthrop would not have occurred but for Pickens’ improper placement and storage of combustible materials on the roof.

Pickens attempts to muddy the waters of this clear application of South Carolina law by claiming “courts have struggled with . . . causation for decades, particularly in fire cases;” that this case is based on “spread theory” that has not been adopted by South Carolina, and that “spread theory” is “a first cousin to *res ipsa loquitur*.” But there is nothing to struggle with in this case—the evidence before the jury proved causation as defined by South Carolina law. The cases cited by Pickens involving the so called “spread theory” of liability all hold a defendant liable for damage to another’s property when some negligent act transfers a fire from one property to another. (Petition, p. 14-15.) Here, the evidence established that a fire originated on

a flat roof owned by Winthrop, traveled up and into the eaves of the adjoining building owned by Winthrop, and destroyed both the flat roof and the adjoining building, solely due to Pickens' conduct.

This is not a *res ipsa loquitur* case. Not only does *res ipsa loquitur* not apply to breach-of-contract actions, it also does not apply where direct *or* circumstantial evidence is presented from which the jury can make its conclusions. While South Carolina courts have rejected the *res ipsa loquitur* doctrine, they have hastened to add, "that obviously this does not mean that negligence may not be established by circumstantial as well as direct evidence." *Eickhoff v. Beard-Laney, Inc.*, 199 S.C. 500, 20 S.E.2d 153, 155 (1942).

The appellate court also properly rejected Pickens' argument that the fire was not foreseeable. The contract expressly provided for storage of materials in two locations, neither of which was on the flat roof. (R. p. 421, lines 5-9; R. p. 442, line 23; R. p. 443, line 5; R. p. 518, lines 1-11; R. p. 1085; R. p. 1218; R. p. 1220; R. pp. 1229-30.) Pickens agreed that the International Fire Code, and the National Fire Protection Association Code Section 241 ("NFPA 241"), were "the law" or "had the force of law," and that Pickens was required to follow them. (R. p. 153, lines 17-23.) Both codes prohibited storage of combustible materials near or on a building — for the very reason that they presented a fire risk. (R. p. 757, lines 11-12; R. p. 861, lines 7-16; R. p. 760, line 23-p. 761, line 3.) Mr. Arnold read to the jury section 315.3 of the International Fire Code, which stated, "Combustible materials stored or displayed outside of buildings that are protected by automatic sprinklers shall not be stored or displayed under non-sprinklered eaves, canopies or other projections or overhangs." (R. p. 760, line 23-p. 761, line 3.) Mr. Arnold testified that the Winthrop buildings were protected by automatic sprinklers on the interior, but those sprinklers did not protect the building from fires that started on the

exterior. (R. p. 761, lines 4-9.) He could not say exactly where the combustibles were stored on the flat roof, but he testified “they were within [the proximity] of those eaves sufficiently to allow the fire to get to the roof structure through that path.” (R. p. 761, lines 18-22.)

Pickens knew or should have known it was required to comply with fire codes. Again, those fire codes prohibited storage of combustibles near the building for the very reason that they presented a fire risk. The courts below both correctly rejected Pickens’ argument that the fire was wholly unforeseeable as to support a directed verdict:

Moreover, we find there was evidence to submit to the jury that the damages were foreseeable. Like the circuit court, we find unpersuasive Pickens's argument that the damages were unforeseeable because the work crew left the exact materials that would eventually compose the Bancroft Hall roof on the flat roof. The fire code specifically prohibits the storage of combustible materials near a construction site, and one of the stated purposes of the fire code is to prevent the spread of fire. Because a reasonable inference could be drawn that the storage of prohibited combustible materials near a construction project could cause the quick spread of a fire, the question of foreseeability was properly submitted to the jury. *See [Thorburn v. Spartanburg Theatres, Inc., 263 S.C. 165, 168-69, 208 S.E.2d 919, 920 (1974)]* (“Proximate cause is normally a question of fact for determination by the jury, and may be proved by direct or circumstantial evidence.” (quoting *Player [v. Thompson]*, 259 S.C. [600,] 606, 193 S.E.2d [531,] 533 [(1972)])).

(Op. p. 15).

Pickens’ claim that the fire was unforeseeable because the “materials carried the highest flame resistance rating available” is a mischaracterization of the testimony it cites. Pickens cites to pages 693 through 696 of its appendix (pages 633 through 636 of the record on appeal), where expert Vu Nguyen testified to the fire rating of “everything put together” as a system—an assembly—not to any particular item. (R. p. 635, line 11-R. p. 636, line 9.) The roofing materials stored on the roof were not assembled. Mr. Nguyen did not, for example, know the particular fire rating for uninstalled roof paper, which he noted was “tar saturated felt.” (R. p. 644, lines 17-23.) He did not testify that uninstalled roofing materials sitting on top of a roof

were fire resistant. Regardless, the fact that the jury heard that applicable fire codes considered storage of roofing materials on a roof a fire hazard was sufficient to create a jury question on the issue of foreseeability.

III. DID THE COURT OF APPEALS ERR IN FINDING NO REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN THE TRIAL COURT UNDISPUTEDLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON PROXIMATE CAUSE AND FORESEEABILITY, AND THEN ANSWERED THE JURY'S REQUEST FOR REINSTRUCTION ON PROXIMATE CAUSE BY REINSTRUCTING THE JURY ON PROXIMATE CAUSE TO THE JURY'S SATISFACTION?

Preliminarily, Pickens does not specify any "special and important reasons" why this question warrants a writ of certiorari, and Winthrop is unaware of any such reason why this Court should consider this question in the petition. *See* Rule 242(b), SCACR. On the merits, Winthrop adopts the holding of the Court of Appeals, asserting that the court did not err in applying the appropriate standard of review and affirming the trial court's ruling on jury instructions:

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